INTRODUCTION 

This case is a challenge to the trial court's denial of a judgment for 

default on a Promissory Note and for granting a judgment for breaching a 

Statutory Warranty Deed. The court erroneously held that there was no 

consideration for the Promissory Note. The court also ruled that a 

judgment against a homeowner's association acted as an encumbrance 

against a parcel of property within that association; and, therefore, the 

grantor was found to have breached the warranty against encumbrances in 

the Statutory Warranty Deed. The court further ruled that the damages 

were the alleged diminished value even though no credible evidence of 

value was presented. It is contended by the Appellant that on each of 

these issues the court erred as a matter oflaw. 

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

Assignments of Error 

1. That the trial court erred in finding from the testimony the 

following Finding of Fact: 

Findings of Fact 1.14: 

Neither Ensberg nor the Nelsons knew about 
the Judgment or that it was a potential 
encumbrance upon their lots. CP at 16. 
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Specifically, the court erred in finding as follows : " . .. that 

it was a potential encumbrance upon their lots." 

2. That the trial court erred in finding from the testimony the 

following Finding of Fact: 

Findings of Fact l.23: 

As part of that transaction, a title report was 
issued which reported the Judgment. Efforts 
were made to remove the information about 
the Judgment from the title report, but those 
efforts were unsuccessful. As a result of the 
Judgment being reported on the title report, 
the buyers in the transaction with the 
Nelsons exercised their right not to proceed 
with the purchase of Lot 18. CP at 18. 

Specifically, the court erred in finding as follows: "As a 

result of the Judgment being reported on the title report, the buyers in the 

transaction with the Nelsons exercised their right not to proceed with the 

purchase of Lot 18." 

3. That the trial court erred in finding from the testimony the 

following Finding of Fact: 

Finding of Fact 1.29: 

The Nelsons did not pay the note, but 
allowed the property to go into foreclosure. 
The property was sold at a trustee's sale in 
August, 2010 and the principal balance 
owing on the first deed of trust at that time 
was $129,733.00. CP at 19. 
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Specifically, the court erred in finding as follows : " ... and 

the principal balance owing on the first deed of trust at that time was 

$129,733.00." 

4. That the trial court erred in concluding that the judgment 

entered against Key Bay Homeowners' Association was an encumbrance 

against the subject lot, Lot 18. 

Conclusions of Law 2.2: 

The $523,474.00 judgment against the Key 
Bay Homeowners ' Association is an 
encumbrance upon Lot 18. CP at 19. 

5. That the trial court erred in concluding that the judgment 

against the Key Bay Homeowners' Association was a burden upon the 

land owned sold by Ensberg to Nelson. 

Conclusions of Law 2.3 : 

Washington law's definition of an 
encumbrance is expansive, as reflected in 
the Hebb v. Severson opinion, cited by both 
parties. Here the exact amount of the 
encumbrance may not be known. It appears 
to have been anywhere from zero to 
$523,474.00 at the time the plaintiff sold the 
property to the defendants, but it was 
nevertheless a burden upon the land. It did 
not, however, render the title unmarketable . 
CP at 20. 
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6. That the trial court erred in concluding that Ensberg 

violated the statutory warranty deed against encumbrances when he 

executed the deed in selling the property to Nelson. 

Conclusions of Law 2.4 : 

Although plaintiff did not know about the 
encumbrance when he executed the statutory 
warranty deed, and cannot be said to have 
sold the property with any intent to deceive 
defendants or commit fraud or any 
misrepresentation, plaintiff nevertheless 
violated the statutory warranty deed 
covenant against encumbrances. CP at 20. 

7. That the trial court erred in concluding that Nelson 

established sufficient evidence as to the value of the property with the 

encumbrance as compared to the value of the property without the 

encumbrance, resulting in a determination of damages totaling $86,267.00. 

Conclusions of Law 2.6: 

Defendants have established on a 
preponderance of the evidence that they had 
a good faith purchaser willing to buy the 
property for $216,000.00 in the fall of 2009. 
The market value of the property subject to 
the encumbrance was established by the 
principal amount owing the first lien holder 
at the time of trustee' s sale in August of 
2010: $129,733.00. Thus the damages due 
from plaintiff to defendants are the 
difference between those two numbers, or 
$86,267.00. CP at 20. 
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8. That the trial court erred in concluding that Ensberg's 

breach of contract claim fails because there was no consideration at the 

time the contract was entered into. 

Conclusions of Law 2.7 : 

The plaintiffs breach of contract claim fails 
because there was a failure of consideration 
at the time the contract was entered into. CP 
at 20. 

9. That the trial court erred in concluding that Nelson should 

be awarded attorneys fees . 

Conclusions of Law 2.8: 

The Nelsons [sic] attorney's fees and costs 
are recoverable by them pursuant to 
RCW 4.84.330. CP at 21. 

10. The trial court erred in dismissing Ensberg's breach of 

contract claim against Nelson. CP at 9,11. 6-7. 

11. The trial court erred in awarding a judgment in favor of the 

Nelson and against Ensberg for $86,267.00 because Ensberg did not 

breach a warranty in the statutory warranty deed; and, even if he did, the 

damages were too speculative to grant an award. CP at 9, ll. 8-10. 

12. The trial court erred in awarding Nelson their attorneys fees 

and costs based upon the errors of the court regarding denying judgment in 

favor of Ensberg. If Ensberg had been granted judgment and Nelson's 
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counter-claims denied, then attorneys fees should have been awarded to 

Ensberg and not Nelson. CP at 9, 1. 14. 

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1. Can a grantor of real property who was not a judgment 

debtor be liable for breach of the present warranty against encumbrances 

when conveying a Statutory Warranty Deed? 

7he standard a/review is de novo. (Assignment of Error 

Nos. 1, 2,4, 5, 6 and 10) 

2. Does the existence of a breach of one (1) of the warranties 

in a deed mean that there was no consideration in the formation of the 

contract; and, assuming valid consideration, should Appellant prevail on 

his claim for damages to Respondents' default on the Promissory Note? 

The standard a/review is de novo. (Assignment of Error 

Nos. 8 and 10) 

3. Even if Ensberg breached the Statutory Warranty Deed, can 

a court grant damages to Nelson when the evidence of damages is 

speculative? 

The standard 0/ review is de novo. (Assignment of Error 

Nos. 3, 7 and 11) 
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4. Should attorneys fees be awarded to Ensberg as the 

prevailing party? 

The standard of review is de novo. (Assignment of Error 

Nos. 9 and 12) 

STA TEMENT OF THE CASE 

This case involves the sale of real property by Statutory Warranty 

Deed followed by a second attempted sale of said real property. The 

Appellant, Erik D. Ensberg (hereafter "Ensberg"), originally purchased 

vacant property near Lake Chelan in Chelan County at the encouragement 

of a business acquaintance, the Respondents, Jason D. Nelson and 

Francine E. Nelson (hereafter referred to as "Nelson"), who had previously 

purchased two (2) lots adjacent to Ensberg. Ensberg made that purchase 

on April 15,2004. CP at 15, II. 1-11, Ex.!. These purchases were 

orchestrated by Nelson's friend, Jack Johnson, whose company, Key 

Development Corporation, was developing and selling the lots. TR at 33. 

Approximately five (5) years later, Ensberg decided he wanted to 

sell his lot and approached Nelson to see if they were interested in 

purchasing it, as he had previously expressed interest. On January 25, 

2009, Nelson bought Ensberg's property for $195,000.00,which comprised 

of an assumption of the underlying debt still owed by Ensberg of 
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approximately $129,603 .00. CP at 16, ll . 4-15, Ex. 2. 

The entire transaction was handled by the same closing agent that 

the developer, Key Development Corporation, had used when Ensberg had 

originally purchased the subject real property five (5) years previously. 

TR at 41 . Title insurance was again obtained through First American 

Title. Ex. 7. Ensberg had no involvement in selecting either the escrow or 

the title company and had no part in drafting the documents Ensberg 

signed, including the Statutory Warranty Deed. TR at 41, II. 7-25 and 42, 

ll . 1-6. Ensberg received a Promissory Note and Deed of Trust (in second 

position) for the balance owed by Nelson of $55,396.00. Ensberg received 

approximately $10,000.00 from Nelson on the date of closing. CP at 16. 

First American Title insurance company performed a title search 

prior to the closing between Ensberg and Nelson and showed no judgment 

encumbering the subject property. CP at 17. However, approximately six 

(6) months after that closing, Nelson put the property back up for sale and 

received an offer to buy from Mr. and Mrs. Boyer (a third party). Boyer 

offered to buy the property for $216,000.00. Ex. 15. That transaction was 

scheduled to be closed by a different escrow agent and a different title 

insurance company (North Meridian Title Insurance Company) than the 

previous two (2) transactions. Ex. 15. North Meridian Title, in its first 
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preliminary title report, listed a judgment against Key Bay Homeowners' 

Association. Ex. 15. The judgment was for over $500,000.00. 

There were multiple efforts to convince North Meridian Title 

Insurance Company to remove the reference of that judgment as an 

encumbrance against title. North Meridian eventually did so, but 

referenced the judgment in a "note" asserting that it has not attached to the 

title, but the homeowners' association may assess a levy in the future. The 

full text states as foil ows: 

THE JUDGMENT AGAINST THE KEY 
BAY HOMEOWNER' S ASSOCIATION, A 
WASHINGTON NONPROFIT 
CORPORATION (THE 
"ASSOCIATION"), HAS NOT 
ATT ACHED TO THE TITLE TO THE 
LAND DESCRIBED IN SCHEDULE A 
HEREIN. IF, AFTER APPEAL, THE 
JUDGMENT ATTACHES TO THE 
ASSOCIATION'S INTEREST, THE 
ASSOCIATION MAY LEVY 
ASSESSMENTS AGAINST EACH LOT 
TO RECOVER THE FUNDS OWED TO 
THE JUDGMENT CREDITORS. THIS 
NOTE PROVIDES NOTICE OF THE 
POTENTIAL FUTURE LIABILITY FOR 
SUCH ASSESSMENT(S). 
Ex. 27. 

Even though the title insurance company determined it ultimately 

was not a lien against the property, Boyers decided not to go through with 

the sale. The sellers, Nelson, did not ask Ensberg to "fix" the problem, nor 
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did Nelson make any further effort to sell the property. TR at 49-50. The 

property was eventually foreclosed as Nelson defaulted, not only on 

Ensberg's Promissory Note, but also on the underlying Note and Deed of 

Trust. CP at 18-19. There is no evidence as to what the property sold for 

at the trustee's sale. 

The foreclosure had the effect of removing Ensberg's Deed of Trust 

against the property, but the balance on the Promissory Note was still due 

and owing; and the last payment made on September 1, 2009, brought the 

balance on that date of $50,012.34. TR at 82, II. 2-8, and Ex. 11. Ensberg 

filed this lawsuit praying for a judgment on the balance owed. Nelson 

countersued claiming that Ensberg breached the Statutory Warranty Deed 

(all other claims brought by Nelson were voluntarily dismissed). 

During trial, there was no expert or lay testimony regarding the 

value of the subject real property with the offending judgment present as 

an alleged defect against title. There also was no expert or lay testimony 

regarding the value of the subject real property without the judgment as an 

alleged encumbrance. Mrs. Nelson testified that she guessed they would 

have profited from the sale (after paying the balance owed to Nelson and 

the underlying holder of the Deed of Trust) $25,274.28 had the sale to the 

new buyers been completed. TR at 83, II. 10-20, and Ex. 33. 
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The court ruled that the judgment was an encumbrance against title 

and, therefore, a breach of the Statutory Warranty Deed conveyed by 

Ensberg to Nelson. The court further ruled that Nelson was damaged 

thereby, and that their loss was the sale price of the failed sale to their 

buyers (Boyers) minus the unknown bid price that was the "highest 

bidder" at the trustee's sale on foreclosure of the first position Deed of 

Trust. CP at 20,11 . 7-2l. In addition, Nelson was awarded attorneys fees 

and costs pursuant to a provision awarding such fees and costs under the 

Promissory Note between Ensberg and Nelson. TR at 2l. After entry of 

judgment against Ensberg, this appeal has followed. 

ARGUMENT 

I. A GRANTOR OF A STATUTORY WARRANTY DEED HAS 
NOT BREACHED ANY OF THE WARRANTIES FOR A 
JUDGMENT THAT DOES NOT ATTACH TO GRANTOR'S 
REAL PROPERTY. 

A. A Judgment Only Attaches As a Lien Against Real 
Property Owned by the Judgment Debtor. 

Real property owned by a judgment debtor is the only 

property subject to a judgment lien. In other words, a judgment lien 

cannot attach to real property owned by a person who was not party to 
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lawsuit. l The Washington State statutes are very clear on when and how 

judgments can attach to real property as a lien. 

The real estate of any judgment debtor, and 
such as the judgment debtor may acquire, 
not exempt by law, shall be held and bound 
to satisfy any judgment of the district court 
of the United States rendered in this state 
and any judgment of the supreme court, 
court of appeals, superior court, or district 
court of the state, and every such judgment 
shall be a lien thereupon to commence as 
provided in RCW 4.56.200 and to run for a 
period of not to exceed ten years from the 
date on which such judgment was 
entered .. . 
RCW 4.56.190. 

The lien of judgments upon the real estate of 
the judgment debtor shall commence as 
follows: 

* * * 

(2) Judgments of the superior court for the 
county in which the real estate of the judg
ment debtor is situated, from the time of the 
filing by the county clerk upon execution 
docket in accordance with RCW 
4.64.030; . .. 
RCW 4.56.200. 

In this case, the undisputed facts demonstrate that Ensberg was not 

a judgment debtor to any judgment during his ownership of the relevant 

1 An exception , not applicable to this case, would be when a third party acquires real property frol11 
ajudgment debtor who had ajudgment entered against him during his ownership and said 
judgment was not paid prior (0 closing. 
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subject property. The judgment at issue was entered in the case of Deep 

Water Brewing, LLC, et. al. v. Fairway Resources Limited, LLC, et. al., 

filed in Chelan County Superior Court under Cause Number 

02-2-00848-2. The judgment debtors in that case were Jack 1. Johnson, 

Key Development Corporation, and Key Bay Homeowners Association. 

Ex. 6, p. 2. The judgment was signed by Hon. Judge T. W. Small on 

March 17,2008, and recorded with the Clerk on or about April 11,2008.2 

Id. 

Even though Ensberg owned the subject real property at the time 

this judgment was entered, he was not one of the judgment debtors, was 

not a party to that case and had no control or input regarding its outcome. 

The statute clearly limits the attachment of judgment liens to real property 

owned by judgment debtors, only. The subject real property was 

subsequently conveyed to Nelson on or about January 25, 2009. Ex. 2. In 

summary, none of the named judgment debtors were the owners of the 

subject real property at the time the judgment was entered and neither 

Ensberg nor Nelson was ever named as a judgment debtor. In short, no 

judgment lien attached to the subject real property. The standard of 

review is de novo since this issue is a question solely of law. See, 

2 This case was the subject of appellate review under Deep Water BreWing, LLC v. Fairway 
Resources Limited, et aI., 152 Wn.App. 229, 215 P.3d 990 (2009) . 
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Edmonson v. Popchoi, 155 Wn.App. 376,383-84,228 P .3d 780 (2010). 

B. The Warranty Against Encumbrances was not 
Breached by Ensberg, the Grantor. 

1. Warranty against encumbrance is breached, if at 
all, only at the time of conveyance. 

The warranty against encumbrance is a present 

warranty that is breached, if at all, only at time of transfer or conveyance 

of title. Generally speaking, there are five (5) warranties granted in a 

Statutory Warranty Deed. RCW 64.04.030 provides the statutory 

framework for this type of deed. 

* * * 

Every deed in substance in the above form, 
when otherwise duly executed, shall be 
deemed and held a conveyance in fee simple 
to the grantee, his or her heirs and assigns, 
with covenants on the part of the grantor: 
(1) That at the time of the making and 
delivery of such deed he or she was lawfully 
seized of an indefeasible estate in fee 
simple, in and to the premises therein 
described, and had good right and full power 
to convey the same; (2) that the same were 
then free from all encumbrances; and 
(3) that he or she warrants to the grantee, his 
or her heirs and assigns, the quiet and 
peaceable possession of such premises, and 
will defend the title thereto against all 
persons who may lawfully claim the same, 
and such covenants shall be obligatory upon 
any grantor, his or her heirs and personal 
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representatives, as fully and with like effect 
as if written at full length in such deed. 
RCW 64.04.030 . 

In the case of Mastro v. Kumakichi CO/p., 90 

Wn.App. 157, 951 P.2d 817 (I 998), this court addressed a potential breach 

of a statutory warranty deed based upon the existence of an encroachment 

by a neighboring property owner who ultimately brought an action against 

the grantee for adverse possession. In that case, the court quoted from 

Foley v. Smith, 14 Wn.App. 285, 292,539 P.2d 874 (1975), and 

William B. Stoebuck, Washington Practice, Real Estate: Property Law, 

§7.2, at 447 (1995), the five (5) identified covenants (or warranties) 

granted by a Statutory Warranty Deed: 

(1) that the grantor was seised of an estate in 
fee simple (warranty of seisn); (2) that he 
had a good right to convey that estate 
(warranty of right to convey); (3) that title 
was free of encumbrances (warranty against 
encumbrances); (4) that the grantee, his 
heirs and assigns, will have quiet possession 
(warranty of quiet possession); and (5) that 
the grantor will defend the grantee's title 
(warranty to defend). 
Mastro, 90 Wn.App. at 162. 

The court went on to assert that some covenants are 

present and others are future . "These covenants include both 'present' 

covenants, such as the warranty of seisin, which are breached at 
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conveyance, and 'future' covenants, which may be breached or become 

effective after conveyance." Id., at 163 . 

The covenant against encumbrances is a present 

covenant. Washington Practice defines it as follows : "Like the covenant 

of seisin, the covenant against encumbrances is a "present" covenant, 

broken only by an "encumbrance" that exists at the time of conveyance, 

but broken by the mere existence of the encumbrance, without the need for 

an eviction." The treatise went on to describe various examples of what 

constitutes an encumbrance as identified by Washington State Appellate 

Court decisions. Mortgages, leaseholds and restrictive covenants would 

be considered encumbrances without question. "However, Washington 

does not regard governmental land-use regulations, such as zoning and 

building regulations, as encumbrances, even if there is an existing 

violation, since such regulations are not clouds on the title itself." 

18 Washington Practi ce Real Property § 14.3. See al so, Stone v. Sexsmith, 

28 Wn.2d 947, 184 P.2d 567 (1947). 

In the case of Moore v. Gillingham, 22 Wn.2d 655, 

157 P.2d 598 (1945), a question was raised regarding an encumbrance or 

lien attaching for failure to pay certain taxes. The court emphasized that 
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the warranty against encumbrance was a present covenant breached, if at 

all, only at the time of delivery or transfer oftitle. 

In the Moore, supra, case, the Court was reviewing 

the trial court's determination that unpaid taxes attached to the title as a 

lien and, therefore, was a breach of the warranty against encumbrances. 

The Court had previously noted : "A covenant against encumbrances is a 

covenant in praesenti and, if breached at all, is broken at the time it is 

made." Id. , at 661. The Court held that because there were taxes due on 

the property at the time of delivery of the deed the covenant against an 

encumbrance was broken immediately upon said delivery. Id. 

In the case at bar, the question is limited to whether 

there was a breach of the warranty against encumbrance upon transfer of 

title from Ensberg to Nelson. The only encumbrance in question is the 

judgment against other third parties who were not owners of the real 

property at the time of that judgment being recorded in Chelan County. 

Therefore, as a matter of law, the warranty against encumbrance was not 

breached by Ensberg. The standard of review is de novo since this issue is 

a question solely oflaw. See, Edmonson v. Popchoi, 155 Wn.App. 376, 

383-84,228 P.3d 780 (2010). 

2. A title insurance report or the lack of confidence 
by a potential third party buyer is not the test of 
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whether there has been a breach of the warranty 
against encumbrance. 

At the very least, there must be an actual 

encumbrance on or touching the property itself in order to arrive at the 

question of whether that warranty has been breached. The Washington 

State Supreme Court has defined an encumbrance in this context. The 

standard of review for this question of law is de novo. In the case of 

Hebb v. Severson, 32 Wn.2d 159,201 P.2d 156 (1948), the court carefully 

analyzed whether the existence of a present violation of a protective 

restriction (the existence of a building within five feet of property 

boundary) constituted an encumbrance. Id., at 165-166. The court's 

definition of an encumbrance is as follows: 

An 'encumbrance' has been defined by this 
court to be any right to, or interest in, land 
which may subsist in third persons, to the 
diminution of the value of the estate of the 
tenant, but consistent with the passing of the 
fee; and, also, as a burden upon land 
depreciative of its value, such as a lien, 
easement, or servitude, which, though 
adverse to the interest of the landowner does 
not conflict of his conveyance of the land in 
fee . Green v. Tidball, 26 Wash. 338,67 P. 
84, 55 L.R.A. 879; Linne v. Bredes, 43 
Wash. 540, 86 P. 858,6 L.R.A.,N.S ., 707, 
117 Am.St.Rep. 1068, 11 Ann.Cas. 238. 
Hebb, supra., at 160 (Emphasis added). 
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In Williams v. Hewitt, 57 Wash. 62, 106 P. 496 

(1910), the court addressed the question of whether a ten-year building 

restrictive covenant constitutes a warranty against encumbrance. The 

court concluded that not the covenant itself, but the existing breach of that 

covenant, was an encumbrance and cited two (2) cases outside of the State 

of Washington for further definition. 

It is first contended that the clause should be 
treated as surplusage, or as a condition 
subsequent, and not as an incumbrance. We 
think that the clause is an incumbrance. 
"Any right existing in another to use the 
land, or whereby the use of the owner is 
restricted, is an incumbrance." Wetmore v. 
Bruce, 118 N.Y. 319,23 N.E. 303 . "If the 
right or interest of the third person is such 
that the owner of the servient estate has not 
so complete and absolute an ownership and 
property in his land as he would have if the 
right or interest spoken of did not exist, his 
land is in law diminished in value and 
incumbered." Mackey v. Harmon, 34 Minn. 
168,24 N.W. 702. "A building restriction 
constitutes an incumbrance upon the title, 
and its imposition is a breach of the 
covenant against incumbrances." 
5 Am. & Eng.Enc. of Law (2d. Ed.) p. 6. 
See also, Streeper v. Abeln, 59 Mo.App. 
485. 
Id., at 63. 

In the case at bar, as previously stated, there was an 

existing judgment against other third parties. The Hebb case illustrates 
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that not every technical violation is a breach of one (1) of the warranties. 

Hebb, supra., at 159. However, it is instructive to note that there must, at 

least, be a technical violation. That is, there must be a technical restriction 

or lien relating to a right to, or interest in, land subsisting in third persons. 

That is the definition of an encumbrance to which a court must look. 

In this case, the only way a judgment could, by any 

definition, create a "right to, or interest in, land subsist[ing] in third 

persons" is if that judgment was against the property owner. Id., at 160. 

Ensberg was the property owner when the judgment was recorded. He 

was not a judgment debtor and, therefore, free of any lien on his property 

at the time of conveyance. 

3. A judgment against a homeowner's association 
does not create a breach of the Statutory 
Warranty Deed by a property owner within that 
association. 

One might arguably claim that the property could be 

under threat of a lien by the homeowners association, who was, in fact, a 

named party to the lawsuit that gives rise to the judgment in question. 

However, such conclusion assumes more than the presented evidence in 

this case and would clearly not constitute a violation of a breach of the 

warranty against encumbrance. It is an event that might happen in the 
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future and would not constitute a present violation of the warranty at the 

time of conveyance. The standard of review is de novo. 

In contrast, the State Legislature has specifically 

ruled in the case of condominium associations that a judgment against a 

condominium association (assuming it is perfected under RCW 4.64.020), 

will act as a lien in favor of the judgment lienholder against all of the units 

of the condominium. Notice, however, that it is an express act of the 

Legislature to create this kind of encumbrance against one (1) of the unit 

owners within the condominium. The relevant text states as follows: 

(1) Except as provided in subsection (2) of 
this section, a judgment for money against 
the association perfected under RCW 
4.64.020 is a lien in favor of the judgment 
lienholder against all of the units in the 
condominium and their interest in the 
common elements at the time the judgment 
was entered. No other property of a unit 
owner is subject to the claims of creditors of 
the association. 
Wash. Rev. Code Ann. § 64.34.368 (West) . 

In the case at bar, we are not dealing with a 

condominium; and there is no evidence of an association's power or 

authority to assess dues to pay the judgment. The by-laws, covenants 

and/or other governing documents are not exhibits in this trial, nor was 

there any testimony regarding the authority of the Key Bay Homeowners' 

-21-



Association having the power or right to assess dues to satisfy an 

outstanding judgment against the Association. Furthermore, there is no

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