69644-1

69644-1

No. 69644-1-I

---

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION I

---

Erik D. Ensberg, Appellant,

v.

Jason D. Nelson and Francine E. Nelson, Respondents,

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

---

Stephan E. Todd, WSBA # 12429  
14319 15<sup>th</sup> Drive SE  
Mill Creek, WA 98012  
(425) 585-0274  
Attorney for Respondents

2019 JUN 5 AM 10:30  
COURT OF APPEALS DIV I  
STATE OF WASHINGTON

**

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

## II. ARGUMENT

### **A. The judgment against the Key Bay Homeowners' Association, and the possibility of an assessment by the homeowners'**

**association to pay the judgment, was an encumbrance on the property conveyed by Ensberg to Nelson.**

By conveying the property by a statutory warranty deed, Ensberg warranted to Nelson the following:

(1) that at the time of making and delivery of such deed he or she was lawfully seized of an indefeasible estate in fee simple, in and to the premises therein described, and had good right and full power to convey the same; (2) that the same were then free from all encumbrances; and (3) that he or she warrants to the grantee, his or her heirs and assigns, the quiet and peaceable possession of such premises, and will defend the title thereto against all person who may lawfully claim the same, . . .

RCW 64.04.030.

Sixty four years ago, our Supreme Court in *Hebb v. Severson*, 32 Wn. 2d 159, 169, 201 P.2d 156 (1948). broadly defined “encumbrance” to be

any right to, or interest in, land which may subsist in third persons, to the diminution of the value of the estate of the tenant, but consistent with the passing of the fee; **and also, as a burden upon land depreciative of its value**, such as a lien, easement, or servitude, which, though adverse to the interest of the landowner, does not conflict with his conveyance of the land in fee.

*Hebb v. Severson, supra* at 167 (emphasis added). In other words, for a matter to be an “encumbrance” the matter does not have to defeat the grantor’s title. Any matter that tends to diminish the value of the property it is an encumbrance that the grantor warrants against in the warranty deed.

The title insurance company that issued the commitment for title insurance for the Nelson's attempt to sell lot 18, recognized that the homeowners' association could assess all lot owners to raise funds to pay the judgment. There are no reported Washington cases on this issue. However, at least one appellate court in California concluded such a remedy is available to a judgment creditor of a homeowners' association. *See, O'Toole v. Kingsbury Court Owners Assn.* 126 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 549 (2005). In that case, an insurance adjuster had contracted with the owners' association to obtain insurance proceeds due the association. Even though the association received the insurance proceeds, it refused to pay the insurance adjuster. The adjuster sued for breach of contract and was awarded damages of \$140,196.59 and pre-judgment interest of \$59,881.19. The judgment creditor obtained an order compelling the association to levy an assessment against the individual owners to pay the judgment. When the association refused, the court appointed a receiver to do so.

**B. The judgment against the HOA rendered the title to lot 18 unmarketable.**

An appellate court can and will decide a case on any legal theory established by the pleadings and supported by the proof, regardless of the theory applied below. *Barber v. Peringer*, 75 Wn.App. at 248, 877 P.2d



223 (1994). Although the trial court rendered judgment against Ensberg based on a breach of the covenant against encumbrances, the judgment against the HOA also affected the market value of the real property and Ensberg breached his duty to convey good and marketable title. A seller of real property is required to convey good and marketable title to a purchaser:

Even in the absence of any provision in the contract indicating the quality of the title provided for, the law implies an undertaking on the part of the vendor to make and convey a good and marketable title to the purchaser. 55 Am. Jr. 619, Vendor and Purchaser, § 149; notes (1928), 57 A.L.R. 1256, 1260, wherein Washington cases in support of the rule are collected.

*Hebb v. Severson, supra*, at 169. In *Shinn v. Thrust IV, Inc.* 56 Wn. App. 827, 786, P.2d 286 (1990), Division I of the Court of Appeals, relying on *Hebb v. Severson, supra.*, held that the mere possibility of enforcement of restrictions that might not even apply to the land in question, was enough to make the title unmarketable. The Court of Appeals noted that

The Washington Supreme Court has defined marketable title as one being free of reasonable doubt and such as a reasonably informed and intelligent purchaser, exercising ordinary business prudence, would be willing to accept. Such a title need not be perfect in the sense that it is free from every conceivable technical criticism or suspicion, but only from those possibilities of a defect which would give rise to a reasonable question as to its validity.

*Shinn v. Thrust IV, Inc.*, *supra*, 786 P.2d at 296. The Court of Appeals went on to quote a portion of the Supreme Court's decision in *Hebb v. Severson*:

[e]very purchaser of land has a right to demand a title which shall put him in all reasonable security, and which shall protect him from anxiety, lest annoying, if not successful suits be brought against him, and probably take from him or his representative, land upon which money was invested. He should have a title which shall enable him not only to hold his land, but to hold it in peace; and if he wishes to sell it, to be reasonably sure that no flaw or doubt will come up to disturb its marketable value.

*Hebb v. Severson*, *supra* at 166-67. Like the restriction at issue in the *Shinn* case, the judgment here cast serious doubts about whether any purchaser of lot 18 had reasonable security that his or investment in lot 18 would not be in jeopardy. The proof at trial clearly established that the effect of the judgment against the HOA was uncertain and that it was reasonable to assume that litigation might ensue to force the HOA to assess lot owners to pay the judgment. The judgment against the HOA was a "flaw or doubt" which, when Nelson attempted to sell lot 18, came up to "disturb its marketable value."

**C. Ensberg's failure to convey unencumbered and marketable title to Nelson constituted a failure of consideration for the promissory note.**

The promissory note executed by Nelson in favor of Ensberg was given in consideration for the purchase of an unencumbered and marketable title to lot 18. At the time of the conveyance lot 18 was encumbered by the judgment against the HOA and the lot could not be sold due to the uncertainty of the effect of that judgment on lot owners in Key Bay. A material breach of the underlying contract may constitute a failure of consideration and may be raised in defense to an action on an unpaid instrument. *Burton v. Dunn*, 55 Wash.2d 368, 347 P.2d 1065 (1960).

Here, Ensberg materially breached his obligation to convey unencumbered and marketable title which was the consideration for Nelson's promise to pay the promissory note. The trial court was correct in finding a failure of consideration and dismissing Nelson's complaint on the promissory note.

**D. There was sufficient evidence to support the courts award of damages.**

Where the trial court has evaluated evidence, the appellate court's review is limited to determining whether the findings are supported by substantial evidence. *Standing Rock Homeowners Ass'n v. Misich*, 106 Wn.App 231, 23 P.3d 520 (2001). The appellate court will draw

reasonable inferences from the facts in favor of the trial court's determination. *Henry v. Bitar*, 102 Wn.App 137, 5 P.3d 1277 (2000).

Ensberg simply misstates the finding made by the trial court. At page 27 of his brief Ensberg states: "Thus it was an abuse of discretion by the court to enter a finding at Finding of Fact 1.29 that the property sold at a trustee's sale for \$129,733.00." The actual finding was that at the time of the sale, the principal balance of the first deed of trust was \$129,733.00. (F/F 1.29). That was the principal amount of the obligation secured by the first deed of trust at the time of the attempted sale by Nelson. (EX 34). The court also made a finding that Nelson stopped making payments to the holder of the first deed of trust ( F/F 1.27) and it was reasonable to infer that the principal balance at the time of the sale was the same as the principal balance when the attempted sale by Nelson fell through.

It is well settled that damages need not be proven with mathematical certainty. *Interlake Porsche & Audi v. Bucholz*, 45 Wn.App. 502, 728 P.2d 597 (1986). Evidence of damage is sufficient if it affords a reasonable basis for estimating the loss and does not subject the trier of fact to mere speculation or conjecture. *Id.* Where damages cannot be ascertained with certainty, the trial court must exercise its sound discretion. *Id.*

The trial court concluded that the fair market value of lot 18 without the encumbrance was \$216,000.00 based on the offer to purchase the property in October 2009. The trial judge then found that the value of lot 18 subject to the uncertainty of the HOA judgment was the principle amount owing on the first deed of trust: \$129,733.00. The trial judge's determination of the amount of diminished value was not based on speculation and conjecture but on the exercise of sound discretion.

**E. The trial court properly awarded Nelson their attorney's fees.**

At page 32 of his brief, Ensberg makes the following statement:

In the case at bar, even if this court does not reverse the trial court's decision, attorneys fees should not be awarded to Nelson. Nelson is not entitled to attorneys fees because at no time did Nelson tender the case to Ensberg to clear title.

Ensberg does not cite any authority for that argument and misunderstands the basis on which the trial court granted Nelson attorney's fees. Ensberg sued Nelson on the promissory note which contained an attorney fee provision. Because Ensberg did not prevail on that claim and Nelson was the prevailing party on that claim, Nelson was entitled to attorney's fees under the attorney fee provision in the promissory note.

**F. Nelson is entitled to their attorney's fees on appeal.**

In his complaint, Ensberg sought attorney's fees against Nelson under the attorney fee provision in the promissory note. Once plaintiffs alleged that they were entitled to attorney's fees from Nelson, that triggered the Nelsons' right to attorney fees. RCW 4.84.330 provides:

In any action on a contract or lease entered into after September 21, 1977, where such contract or lease specifically provides that attorney's fees and costs, which are incurred to enforce the provisions of such contract or lease, shall be awarded to one of the parties, the prevailing party, whether he is the party specified in the contract or lease or not, shall be entitled to reasonable attorney's fees in addition to costs and necessary disbursements. Attorney's fees provided for by this section shall not be subject to waiver by the parties to any contract or lease which is entered into after September 21, 1977. Any provision in any such contract or lease which provides for a waiver of attorney's fees is void. As used in this section "prevailing party" means the party in whose favor final judgment is rendered.